FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2014 SEP 18 PH 5: 00

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BEPUTY

Supreme Court No. <u>90877-0</u>

COA No. 43764-3-II

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, Petitioner, the Filipino American League, a non-profit, charitable organization, asks this Court to accept review of the decision designated in part II of this petition.

#### II. DECISION

A true and correct copy of the Court of Appeals Division II decision filed on August 19, 2014, is reproduced in the Appendix to this petition at pages A1 through A9.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is an issue of substantial public interest involved where Washington statutory scheme, RCW 4.84 *et seq.*, is designed to "encourage out-of-court settlement of small claims" but, as in the case of Defendant Carino, a judgment debtor to a small claim may avoid the "penalty" of attorney's fees and costs by permitting a Small Claims Plaintiff to obtain a default judgment?

Answer: Yes

2. Is an issue of substantial public interest and/or a significant question of law involved where a Plaintiff's Notice of Small Claim makes no mention of any intent to recover attorney's fees and costs and RCW 12.40.105 does not require any prior notice to judgment debtor and provides that "... [i]f the losing party [in the small claims department] fails to pay the judgment within thirty days or within the period otherwise ordered by the court, the judgment shall be increased by ... any other costs incurred by the prevailing party to enforce the judgment, including but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees"?

Answer: Yes

3. Is review warranted where a conflict or unreconciled issue of law exists in the present case where prior Supreme Court and Appellate Court decisions are distinguishable in that the plaintiff or judgment creditor had a meaningful opportunity to make an out-of-court settlement and/or avail him/her/itself the attorney's fees and costs provisions of RCW 4.84 et seq. See Williams v. Tilaye, 174 Wn. 2d 57, 272 P.3d 235 (2012); Hertz v. Riebe, 86 Wn. App. 102, 936 P.2d 24 (1997).

Answer: Yes

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Court of Appeals Division-II's discretionary review arose from the award of attorney's fees and costs to the Filipino American League ("FAL"), as the prevailing party, in Ms. Carino's ("Petitioner" or "Ms. Carino") appeal of the Thurston County District Court's Order Denying [Petitioner's] Motion for Relief from Judgment to the Thurston County Superior Court.

Ms. Carino was the former President of FAL, a local nonprofit organization. After FAL properly filed and served its Small Claims Complaint, Petitioner failed to appear at the Small Claims Trial on August 26, 2010. CP 6. After considering the affidavit of service on file and evidence submitted by FAL in support of its claim, the Small Claims Court awarded a default judgment in favor of FAL in the amount of \$5,079.00 ("Judgment"). CP 6.

Nearly one year after the Judgment was obtained and after FAL began executing on the Judgment (which it commenced only after attempting to settle the judgment with Ms. Carino by agreement), on August 25, 2011, Ms. Carino filed her Motion for Relief from Judgment with the Thurston County District Court. CP 6. After reviewing the evidence on record, the Thurston County District Court denied Ms. Carino's motion. In spite of the amount in controversy relative to the cost in proceeding, Ms. Carino timely filed a notice of appeal on October 10, 2011, and perfected her RALJ appeal. CP 4. Likewise, FAL timely filed its cross-appeal on the issue of the order denying its request for attorney's fee and costs as prevailing party on the motion to vacate.

By its April 16<sup>th</sup> Order Denying Appeal, the Superior Court expressly reserved the issue of FAL's request for attorney's fees on appeal. With the cooperation of counsel, the Court set a hearing date of May 4, 2012, to allow both parties to provide additional briefing on the issue of attorney's fees and costs on appeal, if desired. Neither FAL nor Petitioner elected to file additional briefing. On May 4, 2012, FAL presented its Declaration in Support of Attorney's Fees and Costs on Appeal and corresponding proposed order. Despite her participation in scheduling the hearing, Petitioner did not attend or otherwise submit further argument to the Superior Court.

Ms. Carino's RALJ appeal ultimately resulted in an Order and Judgment on Appeal entered by the Thurston County Superior Court on July 16, 2012. CP 33. The Order and Judgment on Appeal included an award of attorney's fees and costs to FAL, as the prevailing party, in an amount of \$10,103.20, comprised of \$10,000.00 in attorney's fees and \$103.20 in costs (the "Award").

On July 26, 2012, Petitioner timely filed a Notice of Appeal with this Court with such Notice of Appeal, ultimately converted to and accepted by the Court of Appeals Division II as Discretionary Review.

The Court of Appeals' published opinion on August 19, 2014, revised the Thurston County Superior Court's Award in favor of FAL.

## V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The construction and administration of RCW 4.84 et seq. and RCW 12.40.105, as statutes governing small claims, is of significant public interest and importance.

The Washington State Supreme Court should grant review because of the *substantial public interest* involved in the construction and administration of statutes governing small claims. In particular, where the intent and purpose of statutory schemes are acknowledged to encourage settlement of small claims without further need of judicial resources, the citizens of the state have an inherent interest in preserving judicial

economy, especially where, by definition, the amount in controversy is relatively small.

The statutory scheme embodied at RCW 4.84.250-330 involves multiple purposes of encouraging out-of-court settlements, penalizing parties who unjustifiably bring or resist small claims, and enabling a party to pursue a meritorious small claim without seeing the award diminished by legal fees. *Beckmann v. Spokane Transit Auth.*, 107 Wn.2d 785, 788, 733 P.2d 960 (1987) (citing *Valley v. Hand*, 38 Wn.App. 170, 684 P.2d 1341 (1984); *Northside Auto Serv., Inc. v. Consumers United Ins. Co.*, 25 Wn.App. 486, 492, 607 P.2d 890 (1980)).

One of the main underlying purposes of RCW 4.84.250-330 is to ""encourage out-of-court settlement of small claims, and to penalize parties who unjustifiably pursue or resist the claims." *Harold Meyer Drug v. Hurd*, 23 Wn. App. 683, 687, 598 P.2d 404 (1979). In the present case, where a default judgment is obtained, this purpose is not placed in jeopardy by an award of fees and costs on appeal because, by definition, the parties never had an opportunity for an out-of-court settlement.

Further, where a defendant fails to answer a complaint and a default is obtained, a denial of an award of attorney's fees and costs under RCW 4.84.290 allows a defendant to remain idle without penalty.

In the case at issue, the Court of Appeals' decision and underlying analysis requires that a small claims plaintiff (necessarily *pro se*) make an offer of settlement pursuant to RCW 4.84.270 after filing a Notice of Small Claim but prior to trial or any formal answer from the small claims defendant (as duly noted by the Court of Appeals, no answer is due prior to the hearing date), if a small claims plaintiff is to recover attorney's fees and costs under RCW 4.84 *et seq*. Ironically, by not requiring a formal answer prior to the trial hearing, the Small Claims Court procedure effectively eliminates any meaningful opportunity for the parties to broker an out-of-court settlement prior to the small claims trial as well as any meaningful opportunity for a small claims plaintiff to avail itself of attorney's fees and costs under RCW 4.84 *et seq*.

Here, FAL caused its Notice of Small Claim to be served by the sheriff on Ms. Carino on July 1, 2010. The Notice of Small Claim provided that the small claims trial hearing was set for August 26, 2010. Thus, by the required timelines set forth in RCW 4.84.280, FAL would have had precisely 16 days, between August 1<sup>st</sup> (i.e., 30 days after service of the Notice) and August 16<sup>th</sup> (i.e., 10 days prior to the trial hearing). By

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> RCW 4.84.280 provides:

Offers of settlement shall be served on the adverse party in the manner prescribed by applicable court rules at least ten days prior to trial. Offers of settlement shall not be served until thirty days after the completion of the

statutory definition, any offer of settlement made by FAL prior to filing and service of the Complaint would not be considered for purposes of RCW 4.84 *et seq.* Furthermore, the Court of Appeals' decision (and interpretation of RCW 4.84 *et seq.*) necessarily requires that FAL would have made its offer of settlement prior to receiving any response or answer from Ms. Carino. In essence, the Court of Appeals' decision requires FAL (or other similarly situated small claims plaintiffs) to compromise their small claim *prior* to receiving any indication that Ms. Carino actually contested the claim.

In ruling on the Award, (Superior Court) Judge Tabor expressly analyzed the cases primarily relied upon by Ms. Carino, *Williams v. Tilaye* and *Hertz v. Reibe*, and determined that they were distinguishable from the present case in that both cases involved parties who sought or were awarded attorney's fees and costs on appeal *after a trial*. See *Williams v. Tilaye*, 174 Wn. 2d 57, 272 P.3d 235, 237 (2012); *Hertz v. Riebe*, 86 Wn. App. 102, 936 P.2d 24, 26 (1997); *see also* CP 33. Contrary to those cases, where a party had an opportunity to tender a settlement offer "at

service and filing of the summons and complaint. Offers of settlement shall not be filed or communicated to the trier of the fact until after judgment, at which time a copy of said offer of settlement shall be filed for the purposes of determining attorneys' fees as set forth in RCW 4.84.250.

(Emphasis added.)

least 10 days before trial," FAL obtained a default at Small Claims Court and, as articulated above, had no such opportunity. RCW 4.84.250; See CP 33. Judge Tabor expressly reasoned that, even if it so desired, FAL could not meaningfully avail itself of an offer of settlement because it obtained a default judgment against Ms. Carino. See CP 33.

Washington state citizens routinely avail themselves of Small Claims court with the goal of recovering relatively small claims without the need of incurring expense above and beyond the amount sought. Furthermore, RCW 4.84 *et seq.* is intended to further "encourage out-of-court settlement of small claims, and to penalize parties who unjustifiably pursue or resist the claims." See *Harold Meyer Drug v. Hurd*, 23 Wn. App. 683, 687, 598 P.2d 404 (1979). The Court of Appeals' decision does not serve these purposes and, with particular respect to the small claims system, does not serve judicial economy. Thus, a significant public interest is involved in this request.

B. The issue of whether or not RCW 12.40.105, as a statute governing small claims judgment, entitles a judgment creditor to attorney's fees and costs on appeal presents a significant issue of law and is of significant public interest and importance.

A prevailing party is entitled to attorney fees if fees are authorized by contract, statute, or a recognized equitable ground. *Seattle First Nat'l* 

Bank v. Siebol, 64 Wn. App. 401, 409, 824 P.2d 1252, review denied, 119 Wn.2d 1010, 833 P.2d 386 (1992). RCW 12.40.105 provides:

"If the losing party fails to pay the judgment within thirty days or within the period otherwise ordered by the court, the judgment shall be increased by... any other cost incurred by the prevailing party to enforce the judgment, including but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees..."

(Emphasis added.)

While the Court of Appeals' decision does acknowledge that FAL's Judgment was obtained via Small Claims Court and that FAL cited RCW 12.40.105 as part of the RALJ appeal proceedings, there is no further analysis as to why FAL is not entitled to its fees under the plain language of RCW 12.40.105. See Appellate Decision at p. 3, ¶ 3. Unlike RCW 4.84 et seq., the plain language of RCW 12.40.105 does not require prior notice or an offer of settlement. Furthermore, with the exception of the Court of Appeals decision at issue, FAL's counsel is not aware nor could it locate any decision, whether published or unpublished, at any appellate court level that provided analysis on the application of RCW 12.40.105 in the case of an appeal of a small claims judgment. Thus, a novel issue is presented to the Court – whether or not RCW 12.40.105 entitles to a small claims judgment creditor to increase the judgment for reasonable attorney's fees and costs incurred in defending an appeal. Put in other terms, when is a small claims judgment subject to increase for

attorney's fees and costs incurred in enforcing a judgment if not in the instant case? The Washington State Supreme Court's review is necessary to reconcile RCW 12.40.105 and RCW 4.84 et seq. The Court of Appeals' analysis on RCW 4.84 et seq. would be reconciled if a small claims judgment creditor was entitled to recover attorney's fees and costs incurred on a default judgment, whether or not an offer was made. Without any analysis on these statutes governing small claims, there is an inherent conflict either in the statutes under FAL's result in the present action or future small claims actions by other citizens of the state.

Given the number of small claims actions, the purpose of the small claims court system, and the broader interest in judicial economy; the issues presented by the Court of Appeals decision at issue involve significant issues of law and are of significant public interest and importance.

In deciding whether a case a presents issues of continuing and substantial public interest, [t]hree factors in particular are determinative: "(1) whether the issue is of a public or private nature; (2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers; and (3) whether the issue is likely to recur". A fourth factor may also play a role: the "level of genuine adverseness and the quality of advocacy of the issues". Lastly, the court may consider "the likelihood that the issue will escape review because the facts of the controversy are shortlived".

Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC, 167 Wn.2d 781, 796, 225 P.3d 213 (2009) (citing In re Marriage of Horner, 151 Wn.2d 884, 892, 93 P.3d 124 (2004) (citations omitted) (quoting Westerman, 125 Wn.2d at 286-87, 892 P.2d 1067)).

The continuing and substantial public interest exception has been used in cases dealing with constitutional interpretation, see, e.g., *Federated Publications, Inc. v. Kurtz*, 94 Wn.2d 51, 54, 615 P.2d 440 (1980); **the validity and interpretation of statues and regulations**, see, e.g., *In re Wilson*, 94 Wn.2d 885, 887, 621 P.2d 151 (1980);...

Hart v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 111 Wn.2d 445, 449, 759 P.2d 1206, 1208 (1988) (emphasis added). In *In re Marriage of Horner*, the issues concerned the interpretation of a statute. The Washington State Supreme Court stated,

This issue is of a public nature because it concerns the interpretation of RCW 26.09.520, and because the Court of Appeals opinion was not limited to the *Horner* facts, but contained an interpretation of the statute.

*In re Marriage of Horner*, 151 Wn.2d 884, 892, 93 P.3d 124, 129 (2004).

The present case involves interpretation of small claims statutes, RCW 12.40.105 and RCW 4.84 *et seq.* and the general public interest of maintaining judicial economy in the small claims court system by encouraging out-of-court settlement of claims. These issues of interpretation warrant review by the Washington State Supreme Court.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

FAL respectfully requests that this Court accept review of the Court of Appeals decision at issue for the reasons indicated in part V.