II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case began as a default award in small claims court and proceeded through a show cause hearing, appeal in Superior Court, and ultimately discretionary review in the Court of Appeals.

FAL's notice of small claim made no mention of seeking attorney fees. Up to and including the appeal argued in Superior Court <u>the only</u> <u>request FAL advanced for attorney's fees was for contraversion of</u> <u>garnishment</u>, a request repeatedly denied. RP p7, ¶11-12. Nor did FAL ever make an offer of settlement or make any effort to alert Carino to any intent to request fees.

After final judgment was orally announced in Superior Court, including denial of attorneys' fees on the basis of contraversion of garnishment, the judge himself introduced exploring attorney's fees on other basis associated only with defending an appeal. RP p.9, ¶19-23. FAL did not submit any argument in support of award of fees, choosing rather to submit a declaration indiscriminately citing 4 statutes without any

supporting argument. Ms. Carino submitted her response with citation to authority arguing that neither was pursuit of fees proper at this stage of the case, nor was there any statutory basis available to authorize fees. CP 25.

The Superior Court awarded fees under the authority of RCW 4.84.290. Citing Valley v. Hand, 38 Wn. App. 170, 684 P.2d 1341 (Wash. App. Div. 3, 1984), the court concluded that the required offer of settlement and notice to the opposing party was not necessary in this case because as a default judgment in the small claims court there was never a time or opportunity for the Plaintiff to provide an offer of settlement or notice to the Defendant. CP 27. The Court of Appeals reversed the award of attorney fees finding that the unambiguous language of RCW 4.84.290 authorizes award of fees on appeal only where the party is eligible for an award under RCW 4.84.250, and for fees to be authorized under RCW 4.84.250 an offer of settlement is required. Since FAL failed to make an offer of settlement it is not authorized for fees under RCW 4.84.250, and therefore cannot be eligible for fees on appeal under RCW 4.84.290. The court further found that common law as cited in Lay v Hass, 112 Wn. App. 818, 824, 51 P.3d 130 (2002), requires that the party from whom attorney fees are sought receive notice that it may be subject to attorney fees under the statute. This common law serves the purpose of RCW 4.84.250-.300 by ensuring the parties' awareness that the consequences of

not settling a small claim dispute may include award of attorney fees. Beckmann v. Spokane Transit Auth., 107 Wn.2d 785, 788-89, 733 P.2d 960 (1987). And no such notice was provided.

FAL now seeks discretionary review based on two theories: 1) by its assertion that it did not have any opportunity to make an offer of settlement the court of appeals erred in finding that an offer is required under RCW 4.84.250; and 2) that because RCW 12.40.105 authorizes attorney fees necessary for the collection of small claim court judgments, FAL is entitled to attorney fees under RCW 4.84.250-300 for defending an appeal.

III. ARGUMENT

1. Introduction - Reviewable issues of Court of Appeal decisions must be issues in controversy regarding that decision and generally must have been raised below.

The Supreme Court reviews a Court of Appeals decision that either conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court or another division of the Court of Appeals; a decision that presents a significant question of constitutional interest; or a decision that presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court. RAP 13.5A(a)(1), (b); RAP 13.4(b). Review of a Court of Appeals decision is improper for issues, however creative or interesting, that are not in controversy regarding that decision.

The Court generally does not review issues related to a decision that were not raised in the Court of Appeals or in turn raised at trial. *Lindblad v. Boeing Co.*, 108 Wn.App. 198, 207, 31 P.3d 1 (2001). The reason is that a party must inform the court of the rules of law it wishes the court to apply and afford the trial court an opportunity to correct any error and avoid unnecessary use of court resources. *Smith v. Shannon*, 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983). *Postema v. Postema Enters., Inc.*, 118 Wn.App. 185, 193, 72 P.3d 1122 (2003).

Because Petitioner's issues and arguments are not in controversy regarding the Court of Appeals decision, were raised for the first time in the petition for review, and in fact are not issues affecting the Petitioner at all, the Petition should be denied.

2. Because no issue regarding this decision remains in controversy the petition should be denied.

The unambiguous language of the statutory scheme, RCW 4.84.250-.300, requires a party to make a pre-trial offer of settlement to activate the scheme. This was recently emphasized by this Court in *Williams v. Tilaye* when even a settlement offer made long prior to appeal

but post trial was insufficient to activate the scheme. *Williams v. Tilaye*, 174 Wn.2d 57, 58, 272 P.3d 235 (Wash. 2012).

The scheme was analyzed in the context of small claims court in *Valley v. Hand*, relied upon by the Superior Court to justify activating the scheme for the petitioner in the present case. In *Valley* the court determined that a pre-trial offer was not necessary since RCW 4.84.290 made no mention of offers of settlement and such an offer has no merit after a judgment has already been entered. *Valley v. Hand*, 38 Wn.App. 170, 173, 684 P.2d 1341 (Wash.App. Div. 3 1984). Division 3 acknowledged its error in a later appeal of a small claims court case *Hertz v. Riebe*. In *Hertz* Division 3 recognized that RCW 4.84.290 allows activation of the scheme only for a "prevailing party" defined as the party entitled to attorney's fees under RCW 4.84.250. *Hertz v. Riebe*, 86 Wn.App. 102, 107, 936 P.2d 24 (Wash.App. Div. 3 1997). Since RCW 4.84.250 requires a pre-trial offer of settlement any award under the scheme requires a pre-trial offer of settlement.

In fact it was the decision of the Superior Court in the present case that diverged from established authority. The Superior Court asserted that the Petitioner never had an opportunity to make an offer of settlement and therefore by the authority of *Valley v. Hand* is not required to make any offer. By overlooking *Hertz v. Riebe* and *Williams v. Tilaye* the Superior

Court acted in variance with established authority. And precisely that error was corrected by the Court of Appeals when it reversed the Superior Court decision.

An offer of settlement and notice of intent to pursue attorney fees are unambiguous requirements to activate the statutory scheme of RCW 4.84.250-.300. The petitioner may not like it, but any issue of public interest associated with this requirement is a legislative issue not judicial, and the petition should be denied.

- 3. Red Herring issues not in controversy in this case and in fact not affecting Petitioner at all fall outside of reviewable categories and their review should be denied.
 - A. Because the Petitioner voluntarily choose to avail itself of the conveniences and simplicity of small claims court there is no merit to its assertion that it is a victim of the associated limitations of that venue.

The statutory scheme of RCW 4.84-250-.300 pertains to claims of ten-thousand dollars (\$10,000) or less. RCW 4.84.250. These claims have been popularly coined as "small claims" for purposes of analyzing the statutory scheme. The statutory scheme itself makes no reference to the term "small claims."

Small Claim Courts in the state of Washington have jurisdiction over claims of as much as five thousand dollars (\$5,000). RCW

12.40.040. As such, small claim courts have jurisdictions over certain claims that fall under the statutory scheme.

A party with a claim that meets the requirements of RCW 4.84.250-.300 and is of five thousand dollars (\$5,000) or less has the option of filing their complaint in Superior Court, District Court or Small Claim Court. <u>Venue for these claims is a choice, with each venue</u> presenting benefits and restrictions.

The Petitioner filed a claim of five thousand dollars (\$5,000) and choose to avail itself of the simplicity and convenience of the Small Claim Court venue. The Petitioner itself mentions some of these conveniences in its petition for review when referencing the shortened time to get to trial and the simplicity of obtaining a default judgment. Petitioner also relies in its petition on RCW 12.40.105; a statute providing unique protections for judgment beneficiaries in small claims court.

Now the Petitioner wants to claim as a matter of significant public interest the authority to waive the requirements of RCW 4.84.250-.300 because the conveniences it received in its choice of venue also include limitations. It is meritless now to suggest that the Petitioner is victimized by its own choice of venue. What is more likely is that the choice of venue is proof the Petitioner never had any intention of pursuing attorney fees under the scheme.

Because the statutory scheme makes no exceptions based on venue, Petitioner's choice of the Small Claims Court venue makes any suggestion of being a victim of the quality of that venue meritless and the petition should be denied.

B. Petitioner's assertion that the procedures of Small Claim Court eliminate access to the scheme lacks merit because Petitioner acknowledges in its own petition that it had the opportunity and means to make an offer of settlement.

As the Petitioner repeatedly represents the purpose of the scheme is to encourage settlements of claims of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000) or less. Even, for the sake of argument, if an offer of settlement was not possible in a small claim court venue, the absence of an offer of settlement would negate the purpose of the scheme. Without an offer, there can be no settlement. The scheme unambiguously requires an offer, it does not guarantee the opportunity to make an offer.

However, in fact Petitioner in its own petition acknowledges that it had 16 days in which it did have the opportunity to make an offer of settlement prior to trial. Petition, page 6. Petitioner also acknowledges its ability to complete service on Ms. Carino. Id. According to RCW 4.84.280, offers of settlement shall be served on the adverse party in the manner prescribed by Court rules. Therefore the Petitioner by its own

assertions acknowledges it had opportunity and means of making an offer of settlement.

Since Petitioner acknowledges it had both the opportunity and the means of making an offer of settlement its assertions based upon lack of ability to make an offer are meritless and the petition should be denied.

C. Petitioner's assertion that under the fee shifting scheme a judgment debtor may avoid the penalty of attorney fees by fostering a default judgment is nonsensical because it is an irrational inefficient and self-destructive choice.

To Foster a default judgment in small claims court is to accept full liability under that judgment including any costs and fees associated with collection of the judgment. If the judgment debtor also choses to appeal that judgment they would incur their own legal fees and court costs while also having to post a bond of twice the value of the judgment. An irrational defendant intentionally choosing this course would not be a general concern of significant public interest let alone in this case where it was not an issue at all.

- D. Because the question before the Court of Appeals was whether the requisite foundation existed to activate the statutory scheme of RCW 4.84.250-.300 a theory involving the unrelated statute RCW 12.40.105 is not a proper question for review and should be denied.
 - a. RCW 12.40.105 was not relevant to the Court of Appeals decision.

Supreme Court review of a decision of the Court of Appeals pertains to the decision of the Court of Appeals. In this case the question before the Court of Appeals was whether an offer of settlement and notice of intent to pursue legal fees are conditions precedent to activate the fee shifting scheme of RCW 4.84.250-.300. RCW 12.40.105, Increase of judgment upon failure to pay, was not in question and did not pertain to the decision.

Because RCW 12.40.105 does not pertain to the decision of the Court of Appeals, review based on that statute should be denied.

b. RCW 12.40.105 was not raised on appeal by Petitioner mentioned in its appellate brief and not ever advanced in lower courts.

The Court generally does not review issues related to a decision that were not raised in the Court of Appeals or in turn raised at trial. *Lindblad v. Boeing Co.* The reason is that a party must inform the court of the rules of law it wishes the court to apply and afford the trial court an opportunity to correct any error and avoid unnecessary use of court resources. *Smith v. Shannon.* Petitioner raises RCW 12.40.105 as a basis for fees for the first time in its Petition. Because RCW 12.40.105 is not an issue in this case and is being raised for the first time in the petition for review, review based on this statute should be denied.

c. Collection of judgment is not even a complaint of the Petitioner.

RCW 12.40.105, Increase of judgment upon failure to pay; provides statutory authority for a small claim court judgment creditor to collect costs associated with collection of small claim court judgments. RCW 12.40.105. This issue is not in controversy in this case.

Defendants of small claim court judgments who seek appeal are required to post a bond in the amount of twice the sum of the judgment and costs. Not only was this bond deposited with the court, but the Petitioner collected on the bond all of the amounts it demanded including the full amount of the judgment plus collection fees plus interest. Petitioner has also already collected on the attorney fee award of the Superior Court. There are no outstanding judgments on which to collect.

Because RCW 12.40.105, Increase of judgment upon failure to pay, is not a controversy of this case or a complaint of the Petitioner the petition for review based on this statute should be denied.

IV. CONCLUSIONS

Is an offer of settlement and notice of intent to pursue legal fees essential to the legislative intent of the fee shifting scheme of RCW 4.84.250-.300? Regarding that question Petitioner makes no argument that the Court of Appeals got the law wrong. Rather it asks the question – in the circumstance that an offer of settlement and/or notice are not possible should the scheme be applied in strict liability as a bludgeon of punishment to even an unwary and justifiable but unsuccessful appellant? The answer is plain; the legislature did not authorize that policy.

Rather than assert a conflict in judicial authority or a significant issue pertaining to the Court of Appeals decision, Petitioner offers assertions that are neither applicable to the decision on appeal nor in fact applicable to the Petitioner at all. There is no legal issue in conflict or controversy remaining regarding the decision. Because the statutory scheme makes no exceptions based on venue, Petitioner's choice of the Small Claims Court venue makes any its suggestions of being a victim of the quality of that venue meritless. Because the question before the Court of Appeals was whether the requisite foundation existed to activate the statutory scheme of RCW 4.84.250-.300 Petitioner's theory involving the unrelated statute RCW 12.40.105 is not a proper question for review. RCW 12.40.105 was not relevant to the Court of Appeals decision; was not raised on appeal by Petitioner mentioned in its appellate brief and not ever advanced in lower courts; and in fact Collection of judgment is not even a complaint of the Petitioner.

For all of these reasons Petitioner has failed to present a judicial conflict or an issue of the decision on appeal that involves a significant public interest and the petition should be denied.